
CITY OF WALNUT GROVE 

January 13, 2022 

7:00 PM 

1021 PARK STREET MUNICIPAL BUILDING  

Mayor and Council  

           Council Meeting Agenda 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. INVOCATION 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

IV. AGENDA APPROVAL 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. December 9th Meeting Minutes 
2. Invoice over $5000 
3. Financials 
4. Loganville Service Delivery Resolution 

VI. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

1. Community Involvement Committee – Linda Pilgrim 

2. Parks and Recreation/Public Works – Jon Dial 

3. Education Involvement Committee – Stephanie Moncrief 

VII. PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION – DON CANNON: CHAIR 

VIII. WALNUT GROVE HIGH SCHOOL REPORT – LINDSAY ALLEN: PRINCIPAL 

1. Public Comments 

IX. OLD BUSINESS 

X.         NEW BUSINESS 

         1. Appointments 

             i. City Clerk – Keegan Ramsey 

                ii. Deputy Clerk – Sonya Cox 

               iii. Code Enforcement Officer – Craig Ellington 

               iv. Zoning Administrator – Craig Ellington 

                v. City Attorney – Tony Powell 

               vi. City Engineer – Precision Planning 

              vii. Municipal Court Judge – Samuel M. Barth 

a. Library Board of Trustees 
i. Don Cannon 
ii. Erica Miles 



iii. Sarah Tuchscherer 

 

         2. Service Agreement – Bureau Veritas, North America 

         3. Moratorium 

         4. Special Election Date Modification  

XI.         REPORTS 

1. Clerks Report 
2. Mayor’s Report 

XII.       TOWN HALL DISCUSSION 

XIII.       COUNCIL COMMENTS 

XIV.       EXECUTIVE SESSION  

XV.        ADJOURN 



City of Walnut Grove
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 2022 Budget - FY22 P&L  Classes

July 2021 - June 2022

Accrual Basis  Monday, January 10, 2022 05:06 PM GMT-05:00   1/3

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

Income

31.1000 Property Taxes 199,197.82 195,000.00 4,197.82 102.15 %

31.1310 Title Ad Valorem - TAVT 25,596.70 26,000.00 -403.30 98.45 %

31.1315 Motor Vehicle Tax 1,028.58 2,500.00 -1,471.42 41.14 %

31.1340 Intangible Tax 4,572.27 500.00 4,072.27 914.45 %

31.1600 Real Estate Transfer Tax 1,526.56 1,250.00 276.56 122.12 %

31.1710 Franchise Tax - Electric 59,500.00 -59,500.00

31.1730 Franchise Tax - Gas 3,011.60 3,300.00 -288.40 91.26 %

31.1750 Franchise Tax - Cable 2,879.67 6,000.00 -3,120.33 47.99 %

31.1760 Franchise Tax - Telephone 100.48 3,000.00 -2,899.52 3.35 %

31.3100 Local Option Sales Tax 125,667.46 210,000.00 -84,332.54 59.84 %

31.4200 Alcohol Excise Tax 46,968.90 80,000.00 -33,031.10 58.71 %

31.6200 Insurance Premium Tax 107,526.81 105,000.00 2,526.81 102.41 %

31.8000 Other Taxes 2,100.00 -2,100.00

32.1110 Alcohol Licenses - Beer 1,250.00 -1,250.00

32.1120 Alcohol Licenses - Wine 200.00 1,000.00 -800.00 20.00 %

32.1130 Alcohol Licenses - Liquor 2,300.00 3,400.00 -1,100.00 67.65 %

32.1200 Business License 6,200.00 10,000.00 -3,800.00 62.00 %

32.2200 Building Permits and Inspections 1,818.84 22,500.00 -20,681.16 8.08 %

32.2990 Other Permits 175.00 500.00 -325.00 35.00 %

33.1000 Intergovernmental Revenue - Federal 1,758.48 1,758.48

33.1010 Intergovernmental Revenue - CARES Act 253,376.50 253,376.50

33.7100 SPLOST Revenue 96,317.72 96,317.72

34.1910 Election Qualifying Fee 36.00 73.00 -37.00 49.32 %

34.7000 Recreation Income 495.00 5,000.00 -4,505.00 9.90 %

34.9999 Other Charges 2,986.00 850.00 2,136.00 351.29 %

35.1000 Fines and Forfeitures 19,921.00 50,000.00 -30,079.00 39.84 %

35.1020 Court Fees - Other 4,743.00 1,500.00 3,243.00 316.20 %

36.1000 Interest Revenue 285.86 500.00 -214.14 57.17 %

38.9999 Miscellaneous Revenue 560.28 560.28

donation 100.00 100.00

Total Income $909,350.53 $790,723.00 $118,627.53 115.00 %

GROSS PROFIT $909,350.53 $790,723.00 $118,627.53 115.00 %

Expenses

51.1100 Salaries and Wages 111,484.90 209,400.00 -97,915.10 53.24 %

51.2100 Group Insurance 10,000.00 -10,000.00

51.2200 Payroll Taxes - Social Security 9,258.76 9,258.76

51.2215 Payroll Taxes - Federal Unemployment 500.00 -500.00

51.2220 Payroll Taxes - State Unemployment 1,175.68 500.00 675.68 235.14 %

52.1100 Court Software 1,667.47 3,000.00 -1,332.53 55.58 %

52.1300 IT Services 3,891.33 10,000.00 -6,108.67 38.91 %

52.2110 Solid Waste Collection 36,709.20 60,000.00 -23,290.80 61.18 %



City of Walnut Grove
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 2022 Budget - FY22 P&L  Classes

July 2021 - June 2022

Accrual Basis  Monday, January 10, 2022 05:06 PM GMT-05:00   2/3

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

52.2200 Repairs and Maintenance 62,135.08 15,000.00 47,135.08 414.23 %

52.2210 Repairs and Maintenance - Vehicles 12,459.36 10,000.00 2,459.36 124.59 %

Code Officer 55.37 55.37

Total 52.2210 Repairs and Maintenance - Vehicles 12,514.73 10,000.00 2,514.73 125.15 %

52.2220 Repairs and Maintenance - Streets, Roads and Bridges 52,429.30 10,000.00 42,429.30 524.29 %

52.2240 Professional Services 3,892.73 5,000.00 -1,107.27 77.85 %

52.2241 Professional Services - Engineering 77,911.51 55,000.00 22,911.51 141.66 %

52.2242 Professional Services - Accounting 13,434.98 35,000.00 -21,565.02 38.39 %

52.2243 Professional Services - Legal 32,573.34 51,000.00 -18,426.66 63.87 %

52.2244 Professional Services - Security 1,633.23 500.00 1,133.23 326.65 %

52.2250 Facility and Grounds Maintenance 92,120.80 15,000.00 77,120.80 614.14 %

52.2260 Liability Insurance 18,055.00 15,000.00 3,055.00 120.37 %

52.3200 Communications - Telephone 8,915.10 11,000.00 -2,084.90 81.05 %

52.3200 Communications - TelephoneWire 391.09 500.00 -108.91 78.22 %

52.3300 Advertising 2,883.50 5,000.00 -2,116.50 57.67 %

52.3500 Travel 1,259.55 1,500.00 -240.45 83.97 %

52.3600 Dues and fees 1,726.21 3,500.00 -1,773.79 49.32 %

52.3610 Bank Charges 678.88 100.00 578.88 678.88 %

52.3700 Training and Education 13,610.73 21,500.00 -7,889.27 63.31 %

52.3850 Contract Labor 1,350.00 5,000.00 -3,650.00 27.00 %

52.3900 Other Expenses 132,906.76 3,500.00 129,406.76 3,797.34 %

53.1100 Cleaning Supplies 500.00 -500.00

53.1110 Office Supplies 2,448.94 3,500.00 -1,051.06 69.97 %

53.1115 Pavilion Rental Expenses -30.00 650.00 -680.00 -4.62 %

53.1120 Postage 456.00 1,000.00 -544.00 45.60 %

53.1130 General Supplies - Other 667.57 3,000.00 -2,332.43 22.25 %

53.1140 Community Support/Events 1,305.40 5,000.00 -3,694.60 26.11 %

53.1210 Utilities - Water 792.71 700.00 92.71 113.24 %

53.1220 Utilities - Gas 251.42 1,050.00 -798.58 23.94 %

53.1230 Utilities - Electricity 21,644.04 30,500.00 -8,855.96 70.96 %

53.1270 Gas, Oil, Diesel 4,603.68 500.00 4,103.68 920.74 %

53.9999 Miscellaneous Expenditures 6,000.00 -6,000.00

54.1000 Property 2,000.00 -2,000.00

54.1400 Capital outlay - Roads Streets and Bridges 44,821.00 50,000.00 -5,179.00 89.64 %

54.2500 Equipment 2,141.96 10,000.00 -7,858.04 21.42 %

54.2600 New Construction 23,484.00 10,723.00 12,761.00 219.01 %

57.1000 Other Business Expenses 396.32 500.00 -103.68 79.26 %

57.3000 Library 53,610.13 50,000.00 3,610.13 107.22 %

57.3300 Peace Officer Annuity/Benefit Fund 1,515.28 2,500.00 -984.72 60.61 %

57.3320 Crime Lab Fees 50.00 -50.00

57.3340 Drivers Ed/Training Fund 50.00 -50.00

57.3370 Drug Abuse Treatment and Education 1,439.57 1,000.00 439.57 143.96 %

57.3375 County Jail Fund 1,483.27 2,000.00 -516.73 74.16 %



City of Walnut Grove
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 2022 Budget - FY22 P&L  Classes

July 2021 - June 2022

Accrual Basis  Monday, January 10, 2022 05:06 PM GMT-05:00   3/3

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

57.3380 Peace Officer - Prosecutor's Fund 3,000.00 -3,000.00

57.3385 Local Victim Assist. Fund 809.52 500.00 309.52 161.90 %

57.3390 GA Crime Victims Assist. Program 500.00 -500.00

57.3391 Peace Officer - Prosecution Indigent Fund 3,500.00 -3,500.00

57.3392 Sheriff's Retirement Fund of GA 194.00 500.00 -306.00 38.80 %

57.3393 GSCCCA Payouts 4,549.94 4,000.00 549.94 113.75 %

57.4000 Walton County Board of Commissioners 5,737.53 5,000.00 737.53 114.75 %

58.1000 Debt Service - Principal 38,373.92 36,000.00 2,373.92 106.59 %

Purchases 4,650.00 4,650.00

Total Expenses $909,956.06 $790,723.00 $119,233.06 115.08 %

NET OPERATING INCOME $ -605.53 $0.00 $ -605.53 0.00%

NET INCOME $ -605.53 $0.00 $ -605.53 0.00%



City of Walnut Grove
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 2022 Budget - FY22 P&L  Classes

July 2021 - June 2022

Accrual Basis  Monday, January 10, 2022 05:05 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

1100 - LEGISLATIVE 1400 - ELECTIONS 1500 - ADMINISTRATION 2013 SPLOST 2019 SPLOST 2650 - MUNICIPAL COURT 4200 - PUBLIC WORKS 4300 - WASTEWATER TREATMENT 4500 - SOLID WASTE 6100 - PARKS & RECREATION 6500 - LIBRARY 7450 - CODE ENFORCEMENT DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY NOT SPECIFIED TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

Income

31.1000 Property Taxes 199,197.82 195,000.00 4,197.82 102.15 % $199,197.82 $195,000.00 $4,197.82 102.15 %

31.1310 Title Ad Valorem - TAVT 25,596.70 26,000.00 -403.30 98.45 % $25,596.70 $26,000.00 $ -403.30 98.45 %

31.1315 Motor Vehicle Tax 1,028.58 2,500.00 -1,471.42 41.14 % $1,028.58 $2,500.00 $ -1,471.42 41.14 %

31.1340 Intangible Tax 4,572.27 500.00 4,072.27 914.45 % $4,572.27 $500.00 $4,072.27 914.45 %

31.1600 Real Estate Transfer Tax 1,526.56 1,250.00 276.56 122.12 % $1,526.56 $1,250.00 $276.56 122.12 %

31.1710 Franchise Tax - Electric 59,500.00 -59,500.00 $0.00 $59,500.00 $ -59,500.00 0.00%

31.1730 Franchise Tax - Gas 3,011.60 3,300.00 -288.40 91.26 % $3,011.60 $3,300.00 $ -288.40 91.26 %

31.1750 Franchise Tax - Cable 2,879.67 6,000.00 -3,120.33 47.99 % $2,879.67 $6,000.00 $ -3,120.33 47.99 %

31.1760 Franchise Tax - Telephone 100.48 3,000.00 -2,899.52 3.35 % $100.48 $3,000.00 $ -2,899.52 3.35 %

31.3100 Local Option Sales Tax 75,242.54 210,000.00 -134,757.46 35.83 % 50,424.92 50,424.92 $125,667.46 $210,000.00 $ -84,332.54 59.84 %

31.4200 Alcohol Excise Tax 46,968.90 80,000.00 -33,031.10 58.71 % $46,968.90 $80,000.00 $ -33,031.10 58.71 %

31.6200 Insurance Premium Tax 107,526.81 105,000.00 2,526.81 102.41 % $107,526.81 $105,000.00 $2,526.81 102.41 %

31.8000 Other Taxes 2,100.00 -2,100.00 $0.00 $2,100.00 $ -2,100.00 0.00%

32.1110 Alcohol Licenses - Beer 1,250.00 -1,250.00 $0.00 $1,250.00 $ -1,250.00 0.00%

32.1120 Alcohol Licenses - Wine 200.00 1,000.00 -800.00 20.00 % $200.00 $1,000.00 $ -800.00 20.00 %

32.1130 Alcohol Licenses - Liquor 2,300.00 3,400.00 -1,100.00 67.65 % $2,300.00 $3,400.00 $ -1,100.00 67.65 %

32.1200 Business License 6,200.00 10,000.00 -3,800.00 62.00 % $6,200.00 $10,000.00 $ -3,800.00 62.00 %

32.2200 Building Permits and Inspections 1,818.84 20,000.00 -18,181.16 9.09 % 2,500.00 -2,500.00 $1,818.84 $22,500.00 $ -20,681.16 8.08 %

32.2990 Other Permits 175.00 500.00 -325.00 35.00 % $175.00 $500.00 $ -325.00 35.00 %

33.1000 Intergovernmental Revenue - Federal 1,758.48 1,758.48 $1,758.48 $0.00 $1,758.48 0.00%

33.1010 Intergovernmental Revenue - CARES Act 253,376.50 253,376.50 $253,376.50 $0.00 $253,376.50 0.00%

33.7100 SPLOST Revenue 96,317.72 96,317.72 $96,317.72 $0.00 $96,317.72 0.00%

34.1910 Election Qualifying Fee 36.00 73.00 -37.00 49.32 % $36.00 $73.00 $ -37.00 49.32 %

34.7000 Recreation Income 45.00 45.00 250.00 250.00 200.00 5,000.00 -4,800.00 4.00 % $495.00 $5,000.00 $ -4,505.00 9.90 %

34.9999 Other Charges 36.00 36.00 1,325.00 1,325.00 1,625.00 850.00 775.00 191.18 % $2,986.00 $850.00 $2,136.00 351.29 %

35.1000 Fines and Forfeitures 990.00 990.00 18,931.00 50,000.00 -31,069.00 37.86 % $19,921.00 $50,000.00 $ -30,079.00 39.84 %

35.1020 Court Fees - Other 4,743.00 4,743.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00 $4,743.00 $1,500.00 $3,243.00 316.20 %

36.1000 Interest Revenue 99.34 99.34 500.00 -500.00 10.43 10.43 176.09 176.09 $285.86 $500.00 $ -214.14 57.17 %

38.9999 Miscellaneous Revenue 508.68 508.68 51.60 51.60 $560.28 $0.00 $560.28 0.00%

donation 100.00 100.00 $100.00 $0.00 $100.00 0.00%

Total Income $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $72.00 $73.00 $ -1.00 98.63 % $487,915.27 $730,300.00 $ -242,384.73 66.81 % $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $96,317.72 $0.00 $96,317.72 0.00% $20,556.00 $52,850.00 $ -32,294.00 38.89 % $301.60 $0.00 $301.60 0.00% $253,386.93 $0.00 $253,386.93 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $200.00 $5,000.00 $ -4,800.00 4.00 % $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $2,500.00 $ -2,500.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $50,601.01 $0.00 $50,601.01 0.00% $909,350.53 $790,723.00 $118,627.53 115.00 %

GROSS PROFIT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $72.00 $73.00 $ -1.00 98.63 % $487,915.27 $730,300.00 $ -242,384.73 66.81 % $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $96,317.72 $0.00 $96,317.72 0.00% $20,556.00 $52,850.00 $ -32,294.00 38.89 % $301.60 $0.00 $301.60 0.00% $253,386.93 $0.00 $253,386.93 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $200.00 $5,000.00 $ -4,800.00 4.00 % $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $2,500.00 $ -2,500.00 0.00 % $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $50,601.01 $0.00 $50,601.01 0.00% $909,350.53 $790,723.00 $118,627.53 115.00 %

Expenses

51.1100 Salaries and Wages 6,660.00 8,400.00 -1,740.00 79.29 % 38,033.40 74,000.00 -35,966.60 51.40 % 50,841.50 97,000.00 -46,158.50 52.41 % 15,950.00 30,000.00 -14,050.00 53.17 % $111,484.90 $209,400.00 $ -97,915.10 53.24 %

51.2100 Group Insurance 10,000.00 -10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $ -10,000.00 0.00%

51.2200 Payroll Taxes - Social Security 760.58 760.58 2,960.59 2,960.59 4,300.07 4,300.07 1,237.53 1,237.53 -0.01 -0.01 $9,258.76 $0.00 $9,258.76 0.00%

51.2215 Payroll Taxes - Federal Unemployment 500.00 -500.00 $0.00 $500.00 $ -500.00 0.00%

51.2220 Payroll Taxes - State Unemployment 1,175.68 500.00 675.68 235.14 % $1,175.68 $500.00 $675.68 235.14 %

52.1100 Court Software 1,667.47 3,000.00 -1,332.53 55.58 % $1,667.47 $3,000.00 $ -1,332.53 55.58 %

52.1300 IT Services 3,891.33 7,000.00 -3,108.67 55.59 % 3,000.00 -3,000.00 $3,891.33 $10,000.00 $ -6,108.67 38.91 %

52.2110 Solid Waste Collection 36,709.20 60,000.00 -23,290.80 61.18 % $36,709.20 $60,000.00 $ -23,290.80 61.18 %

52.2200 Repairs and Maintenance 39.20 5,000.00 -4,960.80 0.78 % 49,578.00 49,578.00 12,517.88 10,000.00 2,517.88 125.18 % $62,135.08 $15,000.00 $47,135.08 414.23 %

52.2210 Repairs and Maintenance - Vehicles 375.00 375.00 12,084.36 8,750.00 3,334.36 138.11 % 1,250.00 -1,250.00 $12,459.36 $10,000.00 $2,459.36 124.59 %

Code Officer 55.37 55.37 $55.37 $0.00 $55.37 0.00%

Total 52.2210 Repairs and Maintenance - Vehicles 375.00 375.00 12,139.73 8,750.00 3,389.73 138.74 % 1,250.00 -1,250.00 $12,514.73 $10,000.00 $2,514.73 125.15 %

52.2220 Repairs and Maintenance - Streets, Roads and Bridges 52,429.30 52,429.30 10,000.00 -10,000.00 $52,429.30 $10,000.00 $42,429.30 524.29 %

52.2240 Professional Services 1,082.73 2,000.00 -917.27 54.14 % 500.00 -500.00 2,810.00 2,500.00 310.00 112.40 % $3,892.73 $5,000.00 $ -1,107.27 77.85 %

52.2241 Professional Services - Engineering 29,232.51 20,000.00 9,232.51 146.16 % 37,844.00 37,844.00 25,000.00 -25,000.00 10,280.00 10,280.00 10,000.00 -10,000.00 555.00 555.00 $77,911.51 $55,000.00 $22,911.51 141.66 %

52.2242 Professional Services - Accounting 13,434.98 35,000.00 -21,565.02 38.39 % $13,434.98 $35,000.00 $ -21,565.02 38.39 %

52.2243 Professional Services - Legal 25,449.96 40,000.00 -14,550.04 63.62 % 6,213.88 11,000.00 -4,786.12 56.49 % 909.50 909.50 $32,573.34 $51,000.00 $ -18,426.66 63.87 %

52.2244 Professional Services - Security 1,633.23 500.00 1,133.23 326.65 % $1,633.23 $500.00 $1,133.23 326.65 %

52.2250 Facility and Grounds Maintenance 660.00 1,000.00 -340.00 66.00 % 83,985.80 83,985.80 7,475.00 9,500.00 -2,025.00 78.68 % 2,500.00 -2,500.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 $92,120.80 $15,000.00 $77,120.80 614.14 %

52.2260 Liability Insurance 18,055.00 15,000.00 3,055.00 120.37 % $18,055.00 $15,000.00 $3,055.00 120.37 %

52.3200 Communications - Telephone 5,393.10 8,800.00 -3,406.90 61.29 % 1,400.00 -1,400.00 3,522.00 3,522.00 800.00 -800.00 $8,915.10 $11,000.00 $ -2,084.90 81.05 %

52.3200 Communications - TelephoneWire 500.00 -500.00 267.84 267.84 123.25 123.25 $391.09 $500.00 $ -108.91 78.22 %

52.3300 Advertising 157.50 157.50 2,726.00 2,500.00 226.00 109.04 % 2,500.00 -2,500.00 $2,883.50 $5,000.00 $ -2,116.50 57.67 %

52.3500 Travel 1,000.00 -1,000.00 1,259.55 500.00 759.55 251.91 % $1,259.55 $1,500.00 $ -240.45 83.97 %

52.3600 Dues and fees 2,000.00 -2,000.00 1,726.21 1,500.00 226.21 115.08 % $1,726.21 $3,500.00 $ -1,773.79 49.32 %

52.3610 Bank Charges 136.63 100.00 36.63 136.63 % 22.19 22.19 54.67 54.67 20.15 20.15 445.24 445.24 $678.88 $100.00 $578.88 678.88 %

52.3700 Training and Education 15,500.00 -15,500.00 13,319.61 3,000.00 10,319.61 443.99 % 291.12 291.12 1,500.00 -1,500.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00 $13,610.73 $21,500.00 $ -7,889.27 63.31 %

52.3850 Contract Labor 1,350.00 5,000.00 -3,650.00 27.00 % $1,350.00 $5,000.00 $ -3,650.00 27.00 %

52.3900 Other Expenses 132,123.69 1,000.00 131,123.69 13,212.37 % 2,500.00 -2,500.00 533.07 533.07 250.00 250.00 $132,906.76 $3,500.00 $129,406.76 3,797.34 %

53.1100 Cleaning Supplies 450.00 -450.00 50.00 -50.00 $0.00 $500.00 $ -500.00 0.00%

53.1110 Office Supplies 2,448.94 3,500.00 -1,051.06 69.97 % $2,448.94 $3,500.00 $ -1,051.06 69.97 %

53.1115 Pavilion Rental Expenses -30.00 -30.00 500.00 -500.00 150.00 -150.00 $ -30.00 $650.00 $ -680.00 -4.62 %

53.1120 Postage 456.00 1,000.00 -544.00 45.60 % $456.00 $1,000.00 $ -544.00 45.60 %

53.1130 General Supplies - Other 667.57 1,500.00 -832.43 44.50 % 1,000.00 -1,000.00 500.00 -500.00 $667.57 $3,000.00 $ -2,332.43 22.25 %

53.1140 Community Support/Events 765.40 1,000.00 -234.60 76.54 % 540.00 4,000.00 -3,460.00 13.50 % $1,305.40 $5,000.00 $ -3,694.60 26.11 %

53.1210 Utilities - Water 552.86 600.00 -47.14 92.14 % 100.00 -100.00 239.85 239.85 $792.71 $700.00 $92.71 113.24 %

53.1220 Utilities - Gas 251.42 800.00 -548.58 31.43 % 250.00 -250.00 $251.42 $1,050.00 $ -798.58 23.94 %

53.1230 Utilities - Electricity 16,878.49 28,500.00 -11,621.51 59.22 % 2,771.67 1,000.00 1,771.67 277.17 % 1,993.88 1,993.88 1,000.00 -1,000.00 $21,644.04 $30,500.00 $ -8,855.96 70.96 %

53.1270 Gas, Oil, Diesel 1,163.73 1,163.73 3,439.95 3,439.95 500.00 -500.00 $4,603.68 $500.00 $4,103.68 920.74 %

53.9999 Miscellaneous Expenditures 1,000.00 -1,000.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00 $ -6,000.00 0.00%

54.1000 Property 500.00 -500.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $ -2,000.00 0.00%

54.1400 Capital outlay - Roads Streets and Bridges 44,821.00 44,821.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 $44,821.00 $50,000.00 $ -5,179.00 89.64 %

54.2500 Equipment 1,000.00 -1,000.00 2,141.96 9,000.00 -6,858.04 23.80 % $2,141.96 $10,000.00 $ -7,858.04 21.42 %

54.2600 New Construction 6,000.00 6,000.00 17,484.00 10,723.00 6,761.00 163.05 % $23,484.00 $10,723.00 $12,761.00 219.01 %

57.1000 Other Business Expenses 396.32 500.00 -103.68 79.26 % $396.32 $500.00 $ -103.68 79.26 %

57.3000 Library 53,610.13 50,000.00 3,610.13 107.22 % $53,610.13 $50,000.00 $3,610.13 107.22 %

57.3300 Peace Officer Annuity/Benefit Fund 1,515.28 2,500.00 -984.72 60.61 % $1,515.28 $2,500.00 $ -984.72 60.61 %

57.3320 Crime Lab Fees 50.00 -50.00 $0.00 $50.00 $ -50.00 0.00%

57.3340 Drivers Ed/Training Fund 50.00 -50.00 $0.00 $50.00 $ -50.00 0.00%

57.3370 Drug Abuse Treatment and Education 1,439.57 1,000.00 439.57 143.96 % $1,439.57 $1,000.00 $439.57 143.96 %

57.3375 County Jail Fund 1,483.27 2,000.00 -516.73 74.16 % $1,483.27 $2,000.00 $ -516.73 74.16 %

57.3380 Peace Officer - Prosecutor's Fund 3,000.00 -3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00 $ -3,000.00 0.00%

57.3385 Local Victim Assist. Fund 809.52 500.00 309.52 161.90 % $809.52 $500.00 $309.52 161.90 %

57.3390 GA Crime Victims Assist. Program 500.00 -500.00 $0.00 $500.00 $ -500.00 0.00%

57.3391 Peace Officer - Prosecution Indigent Fund 3,500.00 -3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00 $ -3,500.00 0.00%

57.3392 Sheriff's Retirement Fund of GA 194.00 500.00 -306.00 38.80 % $194.00 $500.00 $ -306.00 38.80 %

57.3393 GSCCCA Payouts 4,549.94 4,000.00 549.94 113.75 % $4,549.94 $4,000.00 $549.94 113.75 %

57.4000 Walton County Board of Commissioners 5,737.53 5,737.53 5,000.00 -5,000.00 $5,737.53 $5,000.00 $737.53 114.75 %

58.1000 Debt Service - Principal 8,983.83 8,983.83 17,411.65 17,411.65 11,978.44 36,000.00 -24,021.56 33.27 % $38,373.92 $36,000.00 $2,373.92 106.59 %

Purchases 4,650.00 4,650.00 $4,650.00 $0.00 $4,650.00 0.00%

Total Expenses $7,420.58 $26,900.00 $ -19,479.42 27.59 % $157.50 $0.00 $157.50 0.00% $383,151.49 $273,750.00 $109,401.49 139.96 % $17,433.84 $0.00 $17,433.84 0.00% $223,891.77 $0.00 $223,891.77 0.00% $18,164.05 $39,600.00 $ -21,435.95 45.87 % $121,372.67 $247,523.00 $ -126,150.33 49.03 % $16,179.13 $0.00 $16,179.13 0.00% $36,709.20 $60,000.00 $ -23,290.80 61.18 % $540.00 $20,900.00 $ -20,360.00 2.58 % $65,588.57 $88,000.00 $ -22,411.43 74.53 % $17,437.53 $34,050.00 $ -16,612.47 51.21 % $1,464.50 $0.00 $1,464.50 0.00% $445.23 $0.00 $445.23 0.00% $909,956.06 $790,723.00 $119,233.06 115.08 %

NET OPERATING INCOME $ -7,420.58 $ -26,900.00 $19,479.42 27.59 % $ -85.50 $73.00 $ -158.50 -117.12 % $104,763.78 $456,550.00 $ -351,786.22 22.95 % $ -17,433.84 $0.00 $ -17,433.84 0.00% $ -127,574.05 $0.00 $ -127,574.05 0.00% $2,391.95 $13,250.00 $ -10,858.05 18.05 % $ -121,071.07 $ -247,523.00 $126,451.93 48.91 % $237,207.80 $0.00 $237,207.80 0.00% $ -36,709.20 $ -60,000.00 $23,290.80 61.18 % $ -340.00 $ -15,900.00 $15,560.00 2.14 % $ -65,588.57 $ -88,000.00 $22,411.43 74.53 % $ -17,437.53 $ -31,550.00 $14,112.47 55.27 % $ -1,464.50 $0.00 $ -1,464.50 0.00% $50,155.78 $0.00 $50,155.78 0.00% $ -605.53 $0.00 $ -605.53 0.00%

NET INCOME $ -7,420.58 $ -26,900.00 $19,479.42 27.59 % $ -85.50 $73.00 $ -158.50 -117.12 % $104,763.78 $456,550.00 $ -351,786.22 22.95 % $ -17,433.84 $0.00 $ -17,433.84 0.00% $ -127,574.05 $0.00 $ -127,574.05 0.00% $2,391.95 $13,250.00 $ -10,858.05 18.05 % $ -121,071.07 $ -247,523.00 $126,451.93 48.91 % $237,207.80 $0.00 $237,207.80 0.00% $ -36,709.20 $ -60,000.00 $23,290.80 61.18 % $ -340.00 $ -15,900.00 $15,560.00 2.14 % $ -65,588.57 $ -88,000.00 $22,411.43 74.53 % $ -17,437.53 $ -31,550.00 $14,112.47 55.27 % $ -1,464.50 $0.00 $ -1,464.50 0.00% $50,155.78 $0.00 $50,155.78 0.00% $ -605.53 $0.00 $ -605.53 0.00%



Total

ASSETS

   Current Assets

      Bank Accounts

         11.1100 Cash in Bank - General Fund 273,460.72  

         11.1101 Money Market - General Fund 510,318.23  

         11.1102 Cash in Bank - 2013 SPLOST 31,450.48  

         11.1103 Cash in Bank - 2019 SPLOST 168,468.02  

         11.1104 Cash in Bank - Sewer Operating Account 3,073.84  

         11.1105 Money Market - Sewer 679,212.41  

         11.1111 Cash in Bank - DDA 91,445.28  

      Total Bank Accounts $                  1,757,428.98  

City of Walnut Grove
Balance Sheet

As of January 10, 2022











 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Building Department Services 

City of Walnut Grove 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Bureau Veritas North America, Inc. 

67 Athens Street 

Jefferson, GA 30549 

Attn: Hal Chitwood, Operations Manager 

706.818.4668  

hal.chitwood@bureauveritas.com 

mailto:hal.chitwood@bureauveritas.com


 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

     December 7, 2021 

 
Dear Mayor Moore, 

 
Bureau Veritas North America, Inc. (BVNA) is pleased to offer our credentials and expertise in code 

administration, architectural plan review and building code inspection. We take great pride in our ability to provide 

exemplary services to our clients. This informational document highlights over 30 years of experience providing 

similar services for other federal, state and local government projects. We have the breadth and depth of resources, 

skills and expertise needed to provide excellent construction code enforcement services to meet your specific 

needs. 

 
On the following pages I have highlighted our, experience and references, and our team’s approach to 

providing code consulting services. We are keenly aware of the desire for high-quality customer service, timely 

reviews, reliability, responsiveness and cost-effective solutions. Our commitment to provide accurate and 

appropriate solutions to our clients and our ability to quickly and efficiently meet the needs of the communities 

that we serve makes BVNA an ideal partner. 

 
I welcome the opportunity to meet with you to discuss how Bureau Veritas can partner with you for a successful, 

professional relationship with you by augmenting your staff, promoting transparency in our work, improving 

efficiencies and exceeding your expectations. 
 

 
 

Sincerely, 
 

 
 

 
 
Hal Chitwood, CBO 
Business Unit and Operations Manager 
Bureau Veritas North America



 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Firm Qualifications 
Founded in 1828 Bureau Veritas is a global leader in quality assurance, health, safety and environmental 

(QHSE) solutions. Recognized and accredited by the largest national and international organizations, and with 

over 70,000 employees, Bureau Veritas has unparalleled resources to manage projects requiring a broad range 

of expertise, across vast geographies. With more than 1,330 offices and laboratories in 140 countries, Bureau 

Veritas draws on the synergies between its local teams and dedicated technical centers throughout the world. 

We are the top independent environmental consulting firm in the United States and the largest elevator 

inspection firm in the United States. 

 
BVNA anticipates needs and responds with specific, immediate solutions to the challenges associated with 

construction projects. Our professional members are dedicated to meeting the highest standard of public 

service, crucial to effective delivery of building regulatory services. Consistency, responsiveness, efficiency, 

and a positive attitude are key components of our approach. 

 
BVNA has an extensive background in building services. Our range of experience in this unique arena covers 

literally every key area of service defining a building department in today’s industry. We are skilled at helping 

existing building departments augment or refine their current level of client service or capable of crafting a 

department from the ground up. 

 
▪ Permitting 

▪ Plan Review for Residential, Commercial/Industrial, and Land Development Projects 

▪ Residential and Commercial/Industrial Inspections 

▪ Erosion Sedimentation and Pollution Control Inspection and Plan Review 

▪ Property Maintenance Code Compliance 

▪ Code Interpretation 

▪ Code Adoption and Ordinance Preparation 

▪ Zoning Administration 

▪ City Council Meeting Attendance 

▪ Building Department Administration 

▪ Permit Tracking and Record Keeping 

▪ Plan Reviewer, Inspector and Permit Tech Training 

▪ Budget and Staffing Planning 

▪ Pre-Design and Pre-Construction Meetings 

▪ Designer and Builder Code Training 

▪ Contractor Licensing 

▪ Fee Schedule Evaluation and Updates 

 
Our local presence allows us to provide timely delivery and exceptional customer service in the most 

cost-effective manner. BVNA will bring a cooperative and creative problem solving approach to your needs. 

We fully understand our role as a team member committed to achieving successful projects for you and your 

customers. 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What Sets Us Apart 
BVNA understands that while the company offers a wide range of services, not every community needs the 

same solutions. Our ability to offer a variety of services and to customize services for each community makes 

BVNA an ideal partner. We are ideally suited to provide code consulting services because we possess: 

 
Unparalleled Building Safety and Code Consulting Expertise 

▪ Proven turnkey building safety track record to more than 400 agencies nationally 

▪ Municipal management and staff augmentation expertise 

▪ Key staff that have helped develop and implement the latest International codes 

▪ No private sector design work = no conflict of interest 

 
Depth of Resources and Proximity to Meet Peak Workloads 

▪ Consulting services will be provided from our Jefferson office 

▪ 50+ offices throughout the United States 

▪ Registered engineers and ICC certified staff dedicated to code compliance 

▪ USGBC LEED review certifying body 

 
Best Practices and State-of-the-Art Processes to Consistently Meet Turnaround Schedules 

▪ First U.S. firm to achieve IAS Certification for third party accreditation (BVNA Plano, Texas office) 

▪ Comprehensive and formalized plan review procedure 

▪ Award-winning web-based project tracking and controls 

▪ Electronic plan review to save time, money and paper – a GREEN solution 

 
Strong Municipal Focus 

▪ Helped establish and manage departments for more than 20 newly incorporated cities 

▪ Provided building, fire, and civil engineering department head positions for more than 50 cities 
 

 
The Right People Doing the Right Job 
We have extensive resources and a large pool of licensed and certified building safety experts who are 

equipped to handle all of the client’s needs, including building and fire plan check, building inspection, permit 

and counter services, code enforcement, ADA compliance, and building official services. Our professionals 

have considerable experience in commercial, residential, industrial, energy, and institutional projects of all 

sizes and complexities, allowing them to tailor solutions specifically to the client’s needs. 

 
BVNA and our proposed, locally-based staff have an established history working for the nearby municipalities 

to perform outside plan check and field inspection services. Consequently, we can leverage a breadth of code 

compliance and permit processing expertise to meet the needs of the client, and offer highly qualified engineers 

and ICC certified staff who are in close proximity and can quickly respond to the client’s needs. 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Competence Through Certification – International Code Council 
Building safety depends on more than codes and standards. Building safety results from providing trained 

professionals with the resources and ongoing support necessary to stay current with the latest advancements 

in the building safety field. ICC certification ensures competent building and fire safety individuals are involved 

in the critical building approval process. It also helps to continue attracting an increasing level of competence 

and professionalism into the building code community. The ICC certification represents BVNA’s commitment 

to providing professional and competent plan review and inspection staff to our municipal clients. The following 

is a list of ICC certifications held by our staff members and maintained in active status through continuing 

education units. 
 
 
 
 
 

Accessibility Inspector/Plans Examiner 
Building Inspector  

Building Plans Examiner 
Certified Building Code Official 
Certified Building Official 
Certified Electrical Code Official 
Certified Fire Code Official 
Certified Housing Code Official 
Certified Mechanical Code Official 
Certified Plumbing Code Official 
Combination Inspector 
Combination Plans Examiner 
Commercial Combination Inspector 
Commercial Energy Inspector 
Commercial Energy Plans Examiner 
Disaster Response Inspector 
Electrical Inspector 
Electrical Plans Examiner 
Energy Code Specialist  

 

Fire Inspector I 

Fire Inspector II 
Fire Plans Examiner 
Green Building Residential Examiner  

Property Maintenance & Housing Inspector  
Mechanical Inspector 
Mechanical Inspector UMC 
Mechanical Plans Examiner 
Plumbing Inspector 
Plumbing Inspector UPC 
Plumbing Plans Examiner 
Residential Building Inspector 
Residential Combination Inspector 
Residential Electrical Inspector 
Residential Energy Inspector/Plans Examiner 
Residential Fire Sprinkler Inspector/Plans     
Examiner 
Residential Mechanical Inspector 
Residential Plumbing Inspector 

 

 
 

Coupled with our ICC Certifications, our group also holds the following licenses and certifications: 
 
 

 
 

Professional Engineer 
Registered Architect 

Master Plumber 

Master Electrician 
Certified Floodplain Manager 
GSWCC Level IB Inspector 

Electrical Engineer 
Mechanical Engineer 
Structural Engineer 
LEED AP 
Fire Protection Engineer 
GSWCC Level II Plans Examiner 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Master Code Professional – The Gold Standard 
Multiple members of our team are actively working towards earning the MCP designation. As the highest 
level of certification the International Code Council has to offer, the Master Code Professional (MCP) 
designation has become the gold standard for demonstrating proficiency in the building and fire safety 
profession. 

 
Earning the MCP credential is a significant personal accomplishment as well, requiring successful completion 

of an extensive series of objective and written examinations. Many of the examination credits are from core 

certifications, covering the areas of Residential Building Inspector, Commercial Building Inspector, Commercial 

Electrical Inspector, Commercial Mechanical Inspector, Commercial Plumbing Inspector, Building Plans 

Examiner, Accessibility Inspection Plans Examiner and Certified Building Official. The remaining credits are 

electives selected from a variety of areas such as Fire Inspector, Commercial Energy Inspector, Electrical Plans 

Examiner, Property Maintenance and Housing Inspector, and others. 
 

 
Active Participation and Proficiency in the Code Industry 
As demonstrated through our ICC Certifications, BVNA’s staff is proficient in the application of the International 

Family of Codes. Additionally, the team is proficient in the application of the National Electrical Code, NFPA 

codes, Green Building Program/Energy Code, and Accessibility Standards. Our staff has participated in the 

development of the codes on the local and national level. They have chaired and served on ICC committees 

such as the Code Interpretations Committee, International Building Code Means of Egress Committee, 

International Building Code Steering Committee, and Sub-Committee for Accreditation Standards. They have 

also served on the plumbing and mechanical advisory board, and actively participated in the panel for the 

development of the electrical inspector certification exam. The staff attends code development hearings at the 

ICC meetings and are members of the Building Officials Association of Georgia and Georgia Association of 

Floodplain Managers. 
 

 
Active Participation in Continuing Education 
American Institute of Architects (AIA) Continuing Education Systems (CES) Provider 

To even further demonstrate the team’s knowledge, we are approved by the American Institute of Architects 

(AIA) as a Continuing Education Systems (CES) Provider where we have provided numerous training courses 

on International Codes and Standards. To ensure the highest-quality professional standards, CES Providers 

complete a comprehensive evaluation. Only CES Providers can offer professional learning units, the hallmark 

of quality in continuing education and training. BVNA has been an approved AIA Continuing Education Systems 

Provider since 2005. 

 
Our core classes focus on the following topics: 

•   Accessibility – ADAAG, FHA, IBC/ANSI Standards 

•   International Building Code (IBC) 

•   International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) 

•   Health, Safety, and Welfare training in partnership with our HSE group 



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Active Participation in Accreditation 

IAS AC402 Accredited  
In October of 2010, the Bureau Veritas Code Division became the first, and only, company to achieve 

accreditation under the International Accreditation Service (IAS) Third Party Permitting, Plan Review and 

Inspection Service Providers Accreditation Program (AC402). AC402 outlines requirements for the 

accreditation of third party non-governmental providers of building department services and thus 

recognizes the important role that private firms play in ensuring safety. The goal of the program is to 

provide accreditation to independent providers of building department services based on quality 

management principles and best practices, to ensure that the outstanding safety record of buildings in the 

U.S., as compared to building elsewhere in the world, is maintained. Municipalities can use the IAS 

program to verify that the companies they hire are qualified to provide building safety services for the 

jurisdiction. For Bureau Veritas, accreditation is a way to provide independent verification of its established 

quality procedures and best practices that have been an integral part of the company since its founding in 

1828. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Client Spotlight: 

          City of Oakwood 
 

A  growing  city  in Hall  County,   the   City  of 
Oakwood teamed  with  BVNA  in  2016  to  
perform professional  plan  review, building  
inspections,  and building department services. 

 
 

BVNA   provides the    city   with   experienced   
and professional  resources to  optimize  a  
high  level  of service delivery to the city’s 
community. 

 

 
 

“The City of Oakwood has been extremely pleased with the development 

services provided by Bureau Veritas.  Their depth of knowledge in the 

building industry and documentation procedures has far exceeded our 

expectations.  We are glad to have BV as a part of the Oakwood team and 

look forward to a long term professional relationship.” 

           Stan Brown, City Manager  

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Although the BVNA group has been  active in Georgia for several years, the company  has only been  delivering 

building department services throughout the state for five years.  We are proud to showcase our clients and 

honored to be a part of their communities. 
 

 
 

Jackson County: In November, 2013, the county retained the services 

of BVNA to act as the plan reviewer and building inspector for the 

Jackson County Public Development Department. BVNA’s role is to 

administer compliance with the regulations of Title 8, Chapter 2 of the 

Official Code of Georgia and Title 36, Chapter 13 of the Official Code 

of  Georgia, as adopted and, if applicable, modified by the local Code. 

BVNA is responsible for reviewing commercial plans, inspecting 

residential and commercial buildings and structures, providing inspection 

reports, advising County staff on matters related to County buildings 

and structures, and coordinating inspections with relevant County staff. 
 

 
 
 

 

City of Commerce: With the recent rise in permit activity, the City of 

Commerce was needed to expand their technical capabilities. As 

construction activity can be unpredictable and inconsistent, the city chose 

to secure the plan review and inspection services of BVNA. Since 

October 2013, BVNA has been performing commercial and 

residential plan review and completing inspections for the City to 

ensure compliance with State and local codes and regulations. 
 
 
 
 

Banks County: In December 2014, Banks County brought in BVNA to 

support the county’s building inspections operations as necessary. This is a 

supplemental contract to support the inspector if additional technical 

knowledge or skills become necessary for overly complex projects or 

if volume becomes too heavy. BVNA also shores up any staff 

shortages due to training or time off. 
 
 
 

 
City of Holly Springs: Since June of 2016, BVNA has been providing 

professional plan reviews and commercial inspections for this thriving 

community.  Our presence in the City has ensured that the City is now 

equipped to efficiently and effectively handle new projects, both large 

and small. 



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Pickens County: In February 2015, Pickens County brought in BVNA to 

support the county’s building department by handling all aspects of 

commercial permitting and inspections. The county has an in-house 

residential inspector but recognizes the advantages of having experts 

with the knowledge and experience of BVNA to handle more complex 

projects. 
 

 
 
 

City of Social Circle: Located 45 miles east of Atlanta, Social Circle 

is a historic community in the Historic Heartlands section of Georgia 

in rural Walton County.  BVNA proudly supports the city’s code 

administration program by providing full service plan review, 

inspections, and housing rehabilitation inspections. 
 
 

 
Town of Braselton: Situated about 40 miles northeast of Atlanta, the 

Town of Braselton spans across four counties:  Jackson, Hall, Gwinnett, 

and Barrow. 
 

Upon the retirement of the building official, the town arranged for BVNA 

to assume the responsibilities of the role, such as plan review and 

inspections. 
 

 
 

City of Kennesaw: With the vacancy of the Building Official position, Croy 

Engineering filled the city’s needs with the help of BVNA.  In March 2016, 

BVNA provided a Building Official until the city filled the vacancy.  Today, 

BVNA provides supplemental support to the Building Official for plan 

review and inspection services.  Kennesaw lies within Cobb County and is 

located in the greater Atlanta metro area. 
 

 
 
 
 

City of Arcade: Arcade, GA is a small community located in Jackson County.  

In May 2018, the City contracted BVNA to manage all responsibilities 

associated with the City as an EPD Local Issuing Authority.  BVNA 

certified personnel provide the City officials with a comprehensive 

enforcement program for storm water and erosion control. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City of Dallas: Anchored in Paulding County, Dallas is our newest client 

contracting with BVNA in August 2018. The City relies upon BVNA for the 

provision of commercial and residential inspection services. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approach to Work 
 
During the 30 year tenure, the BVNA team has had the opportunity to observe, replicate, develop and successfully 

implement streamlined processes and best practices that produce efficient and cost-effective results. 

 
Building safety in a community begins with adopting a proven set of building safety codes. But, it takes much 

more than a set of codes to protect the public. It requires qualified professionals to implement the day-to-day 

application of the codes. It also requires proven infrastructure to provide the resources and training necessary to 

keep the building safety professionals up-to-date with the latest building safety requirements and enforcement 

practices. 

As declared by the International Code Council, “a successful code administration program achieves: 

 
1. reduced risk of tragedy caused by natural disasters and fires 

2. investment protection for property owners; and 

3. insurance premium sustainability 

 
The BVNA team pledges to provide the client with a successful code inspections program with qualified and 

experienced code professionals and a proven infrastructure. 

 
Organizational capacity is the ability to successfully apply its skills and resources to accomplish its goals and 

satisfy its stakeholders’ expectations.  It is an ongoing process of assessing and reacting to future needs in 

order to maintain relevance and effectiveness. BVNA utilizes a number of strategies to align its capacity with 

the needs of its clients. A few of these key strategies is provided below. 

 
Strategies to attract and retain highly qualified employees in the appropriate number to maintain the 

required level of service 

Hiring and retaining exceptional talent is critical to BVNA’s success and growth. That’s why it’s a customary 

practice for our Human Resources department to treat hiring as a year-round business process. In addition 

to using outside recruiting consultants, the BVNA team also employs full-time recruiters to constantly identify 

technical and managerial talent that possess the credentials, background, and cultural fit for our clients. BVNA 

has an established planning, recruiting, and selection process for hiring new talent. BVNA offers competitive 

salaries and benefits including professional development and personal growth initiatives that serve to attract 

and retain the best and the brightest in the industry. 

 
Staff members remain at the top of their field 

BVNA continuously invests in its employees and views staff training very seriously. Helping them to grow to 

their highest potential and advancing their professional skills has always been a priority. Within our budget we 

dedicate a substantial amount towards professional growth and development as recognized by the International 

Accreditation Service. 

 
BVNA documents an employee’s education and professional development during the annual Performance 

Management Process (PMP). Performance Management is the process through which supervisors and those 

they lead gain a shared understanding of work expectations and goals, exchange performance feedback, 

identify learning and development opportunities, and evaluate performance results. It is through this process 

that BVNA is able to create and sustain a workplace environment that promotes learning and professional 

development. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Key performance indicators 

Key performance indicators help measure progress towards an established goal. KPIs must reflect the 

organization’s goals, they must be key to its success, and they must be quantifiable (measurable). Choosing 

the right KPIs relies upon a good understanding of what is important. 

 
With regards to a building division, service goals should be established in each area of service and regularly 

measured. As part of this system of evaluation, targets should be established for three separate areas of overall 

service: timeliness (turnaround time); quality (rate of error); and professionalism (quality of staff [e.g. knowledge, 

attitude, responsiveness and helpfulness] as perceived by users of department services).  BVNA tracks key 

performance indicators specific to the requirements from each client. 

 
Operational improvements to increase efficiencies, improve service and reduce operating expenses 

BVNA has implemented Lean Project Management fundamentals as its foundation to identify and achieve 

operational improvements. As a customer-centric methodology, lean project management is a continuous cycle 

of eliminating waste and adding value. A lean system emphasizes the prevention of waste: extra time, labor or 

material spent that does not add value to the service. A lean enterprise is the foster a company culture where 

employees constantly look to improve their skills levels and production processes. 

 
BVNA uses policies and procedures to document the framework for operation. The four basic concepts 

in developing the policies and procedures include Compliance, Operational Needs, Risk Management, 

and Improvement. In keeping with our Lean Project Management practices, the BVNA team continuously 

investigates improvement opportunities.  Even so, it is an annual practice of BVNA’s to formally analyze and 

amend policies and procedures to mirror changes in legislation and industry standards. 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

Scope of Work of Services 

Code Administration and Architectural Plan Review 

Plan review services shall be conducted as required by the City’s Building Code, Residential Code, Mechanical Code, 

Electrical Code, Plumbing Code, Fuel Gas Code, Energy Code, Fire Code and other related documents as adopted by 

the City. The plans examiner will return plans with comments within 14 business days from the date of receiving the 

plans. Applicants will be notified of the plan review comments and are responsible for addressing the comments to the 

satisfaction of the City. The City will retain final interpretive authority over all plans and specifications. Permits are issued 

by the City. 

Building Code Inspections 

Inspection services shall be conducted as required by the City’s Building Code, Residential Code, Mechanical Code, 

Electrical Code, Plumbing Code, Fuel Gas Code, Energy Code, Fire Code and other related documents as adopted by 

the City. Special inspections as specified in Chapter 17 and non-prescriptive structural inspections of the adopted 

international Building Code are not included. Inspections shall be performed daily as needed. Inspectors shall report to 

the City Administrator or their designee to collect inspection requests and upon performing inspections, the inspector shall 

place detailed reports in the permit file and a copy will be left on site for the builder. All violations or deficiencies shall be 

cited with the appropriate code section on the report. Any violations of the Code or concealment of any work prior to 

approval by BVNA will be reported to the City Administrator or their designee. The City is the final interpretive authority. 

The Certificate of Occupancy is issued at the discretion of the City. 

Land Development and Erosion Control 

BVNA will perform construction inspection services and will work under the supervision of the City. BVNA will serve as the 

City’s representative with regard to activities at construction and land development sites. BVNA has an outstanding 

working relationship with the GA EPD and can manage all requirements for the Local Issuing Authority responsibility. 

Services include inspection of all active construction sites to determine that the construction activity and installation 

complies with approved plans, as-built drawings, applicable codes and ordinances including tree preservation, 

compliance with NPDES standards for erosion control and storm water BMPs. Construction activity inspections will 

include inspection of operations, roadway excavation and embankments, roadway construction, including subgrade, base 

and finish surface, all concrete work, storm water BMP enforcement and other construction as appropriate. 

Code Enforcement/Property Maintenance Inspections 

Property maintenance inspections will be conducted in accordance with the City’s Code of Ordinances and the current 

adopted edition of the International Property Maintenance Code. Inspections are performed as needed when complaints 

are made by the City or its citizens. Voluntary compliance is sought through education and conversation with the violator. 

Citations are issued at the discretion of the City as it pertains to the minimum days to comply as stated in the Code of 

Ordinances. The inspector will keep a record of the activity involved on file of all cases. If necessary, the inspector will 

appear in court to testify on behalf of the City. The City is the final interpretive authority.  

Zoning Administration 

Administrative and consulting services shall be provided as needed to assist the City in making decisions in new land 

use/development proposals, zoning and city ordinances, and building construction. BVNA will assist in analyzing projects 

for compliance with the City’s general plan, zoning ordinance, subdivision ordinance, design guidelines and applicable 

specific plans. BVNA will assist in review and process of ministerial applications and discretionary entitlements, such as: 

Plan Checks, Zoning Clearances, Sign Permits, Use Permits, Variances, Design Review, Tentative Maps, and General 

Planning and Zoning Amendments. The City is the final interpretive authority. 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

Fees 

 

Code Administration and Architectural Plan Review 
Hourly 
For building department administration and architectural plan review, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of 

$70.00 per hour with a minimum of two hours. 

Shared Revenue 
For architectural plan review, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of 75% of the plan review fees collected by the 

client. 

Building Code Inspections 
Hourly 
For building code inspection, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of $70.00 per hour with a minimum of two 

hours. 

Shared Revenue 
For building inspections, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of 75% of the permit fees collected by the client. 

For court appearances and meetings or inspections performed outside of normal business hours, BVNA will 

invoice the client at a rate of $125.00 per hour with a minimum of two hours. 

Land Development and Erosion Control 
Hourly 
For inspections and plan review related to development and erosion sedimentation control, BVNA will invoice the 

client at a rate of $85.00 per hour. This fee does not pertain to permitted building projects. 

For court appearances and meetings or inspections performed outside of normal business hours, BVNA will 

invoice the client at a rate of $125.00 per hour with a minimum of two hours. 

Code Enforcement/Property Maintenance Inspections 
Hourly  
For code enforcement and property maintenance inspections, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of $90.00 per 

hour. 

For court appearances and meetings or inspections performed outside of normal business hours, BVNA will 

invoice the client at a rate of $125.00 per hour with a minimum of two hours. 

Zoning Administration 

 Hourly 

For zoning administration services, BVNA will invoice the client at a rate of $85.00 per hour. 

 

For court appearances and meetings or inspections performed outside of normal business hours, BVNA will 

invoice the client at a rate of $125.00 per hour with a minimum of two hours. 

 







CITY OF WALNUT GROVE 

DECEMBER 9, 2021 

7:00 PM 

1021 PARK STREET MUNICIPAL BUILDING  

Mayor and Council  

           Council Meeting Minutes 

I. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Mark Moore 

II. INVOCATION – Tony Powell 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – All Participated 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA – Council member Linda Pilgrim made motion. Council member Jon Dial seconded. 
Passed unanimous. 

1. November 11th Meeting Minutes 
2. November 18th Meeting Minutes 

V. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

1. Community Involvement Committee – Linda Pilgrim 

Council member Linda Pilgrim discussed what a big success the tree lighting event was and thanked all 
the sponsors, vendors and volunteers for participating. 

2. Parks and Recreation/Public Works – Jon Dial 

Council member Jon Dial discussed the previous meeting was postponed and the next scheduled meeting 
will be in February. Council member Jon Dial also thanked all that participated in the hay ride during the 
tree lighting event. Council member Dial also acknowledged Taylor Grossman a student attending the 
meeting for class credit. 

 

VI. PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION – DON CANNON: CHAIR 

Chairman Cannon reported a change in the meeting date for future commission meetings to the fourth 
Thursday of the month to make a better flow of information to the city council work session. Council member 
Stephanie Moncrief asked if that would create a conflict having the work session and the commission 
meeting on the same day. Chairman Cannon commented the commission would take a look at adjusting the 
date. 

VII. PUBLIC FORUM 

1. Public Comments - None 

VIII. OLD BUSINESS 

1. Rezoning Application – Parcel WG010040 – 81 Investment Co & MFT Land Investments LLC 
Mayor Moore: 
 
Old business is rezoning application parcel WG 010040 Eighty One Investment Company and MFT 
Land Investment from a agriculture to a PUD, is there any discussion? Mr. Butler would you like to 
come up and address the council on this as we've already had numerous public hearings on this 
particular item. 
 
Ned Butler: 
 

Mayor Mark Moore 
Jon Dial 
Linda Pilgrim 
Stephanie Moncrief 
Tony Powell 
Keegan Ramsey 



I'll be brief like Don since you've heard my spiel three or four times, so since the work session I believe 
we've updated and made all the changes requested from that work session of adding the additional 
roundabout, we updated the package with the renderings it would fit on the lot sizes, we agreed to the 
condition of the amenity area with the 30th lot being built on, and most recently adding that to that 
condition that the amenity area will include at least the cabana and a pool. 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
Jay, do you have a list of the Precision Planning's conditions? I would like Jay to read that before we 
actually vote on those conditions as part of the voting so we can be sure that is on the record, so 
everybody is clear on that. There is one thing I wanted to ask you Mr. Butler, 
 
Ned Butler: 
 
Yes Sir. 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
If this is approved, we have a commitment from you that you are planning on building these 150 
homes? 
 
Ned Butler: 
 
Yes Sir. 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
So we'll keep that as part of the record as well, thank you so much. 
 
Tony Powell: 
 
Mayor, is it different from the last version that that we had in the work session? 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
The only thing that he's made a conditioned on that he is he is planning on adding the cabana and 
pool, is that correct? 
 
Ned Butler: 
 
Yes, 
 
Tony Powell: 
 
So, everything else is shown on the site plan that is the last version? 
 
Ned Butler: 
 
Site plan and the 13 or 17 conditions and Precision Planning made in their report. 
 
Tony Powell: 
 
And the cabana and pool. 
 
Ned Butler: 
 
Yes 
 
Tony Powell: 
 



OK so y'all were handed an ordinance at the last  work session that  contains  all of those conditions 
so that resolution has it. The part that is marked in yellow is item number 13 which was a condition of 
Mr. Coleman that was not in the Precision Planning recomendations but so we added it and marked it  
in yellow;  it's the one that says 30 building permit is when you got to start the amenities package, so I 
think if you can take that ordinance form and add to it the condition of the cabana and pool I think you 
will be up to date. 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
So, if we can do that, I would like to request either you or Jay to read those 13 conditions with those 
additions before the council votes on it, so the public can actually hear those conditions. 
 
Tony Powell:  Mr. Powell read the Ordinance form that was presented at the work session as 
follows: 
 
Conditions development will be designed and constructed and coordinates with the conceptual plan 
approved by the Mayor and Council as part of rezoning approval is attached here too as exhibit A so 
that last version gets attached to the resolution minor variations due to topography or engineering 
constraints will be permitted any proposed change in use or increase in the total number of lots will be 
required the project to be resubmitted from approval. All proposed residential dwellings will be single 
family detached no duplexes attached dwellings or parking units are allowed. Due to the limited 
wastewater treatment capacity of the city developer shall phase the development of residential lots, 
developer will submit a phasing plan with the construction plans so that the city is aware of the number 
and location of the phases of residential development. City will retain the right to withhold issuing 
development permits to sufficient wastewater treatment capacity available for each phase. The PUD 
conditions for common property ownership outlined in section 906 D of the zoning ordinance shall be 
enforced for this PUD. The applicant shall comply with the filing of covenants and deed restrictions for 
the properties as indicated section 906 D. Submit all building elevations for residential and amenity 
recreation uses to the Mayor and Council for approval prior requesting building permits. Design all 
sewer easements and access rights to incorporate future phases. All residential driveways shall be 20 
feet minimum width and constructive concrete this condition is applied discourage on street parking 
and provide additional parking on each lot. Install 4-foot-wide concrete sidewalks with a 1 foot 
vegetative strip along both sides of the interior streets in the single family component PUD, installs 
sidewalks in accordance with the standards set forth in section 408 of the land development ordinance. 
Install 5-foot-wide concrete sidewalks along Guthrie Cemetery Road extension in the proposed county 
Parkway alignment. The sidewalk shall have a 1-foot-wide vegetative strip. These sidewalks shall 
 
connect with any adjoining residential sidewalks to improve pedestrian safety and PUD. Install 
sidewalks in accordance with standards set forth in section 408 at the land development ordinance. All 
stormwater management of stormwater management areas shall be designed and accordance with 
requirements of land development ordnance. Developers shall install decorative signposts throughout 
the development in leu of conventional post shall reasonably matched those posts on the Walnut 
Grove Parkway. All lots shall be cited following residential construction front sides and rear. Developer 
shall construct the proposed amenity area for the single-family portion of PUD prior to the issuance of 
the 30th building permit, and that amenity package shall contain a cabana and pool. Developer to 
install a 35-foot-wide landscape buffer along the common land between the single-family PUD and the 
commercial / public property land, the buffer shall compliment any existing vegetation in the proposed 
open space between the two uses. The final design and plant materials to be installed will be 
presented during the permitting. All entrance landscaping and signage off of Guthrie Cemetery 
extension and Walnut Grove Parkway extension into the residential components to be shown on the 
PUD construction plans and approved by the city engineer. Now there's a blue area in this, and it says, 
and I think this was something that may have been in the other PUD requirement but not showing this 
says, subdivision entrance signs shall be constructed of brick or stone including architecturally 
pleasing elements and or decorative fencing at each entrance, and I didn't know if that needed to be in 
or if that's part of the motion? 
 
Mayor Moore: 
 
Yes, it does, it matches the other one. 
 



Tony Powell: 
 
No direct Lot access will be permitted to the proposed extension of Walnut Grove Parkway, shown as 
the county Parkway alignment on the submitted site plan, alternate lot layouts or service streets may 
be built to provide access similar to the design shown PUD concept plan. Tree replacement and 
planting shall follow the guidelines of the land development ordinance. And those are the conditions. 

 

 
*NOTE: On or around December 17, 2021 parcel WG 010040 was donated by Eighty One 
Investment Company and MFT Land Investment to Walton County and no further action on this 
rezoning is required. 
 

2. Crosswalk 
Mayor Mark Moore gave an update on the quote process for the crosswalk project. He reported he got 

another quote in the $20,000 range so the city would be moving forward with the previous lower quote 

and the company would try to install the crosswalk during the Christmas holidays. 

 
 
 
 

IX.         NEW BUSINESS 

1. Employee Healthcare  

Mayor Moore presented to the council an affordable healthcare reimbursement plan for employees of 

the city. The mayor explained the challenges that were encountered trying to get affordable group 

rates in light of the small size of the city. The mayor presented PeopleKeep which is a third party 

administration service that reviews eligible medical expenses and on approval employees are 

reimbursed the cost up to their monthly allowance. Sam Lattimer commented he was not aware of the 

program but it was a great find to address providing employee healthcare. Council member Stephanie 

Moncrief commented she also spoke with PeopleKeep and she also thought it was a great plan. 

Council member Stephanie Moncrief made motion to approve. Council member Jon Dial seconded. 

Passed unanimous. 
 
 

2. Special Condition Request 

Attorney Jim West representing Kippy Clark addressed the council with a request to lower the 

minimum lot size required to request a rezone from 10 acres to 9.4 acres. Mr. West presented a 

proposed site plan of potential uses if approved. Mayor Moore asked for the record “what’s the 

timeframe that you are looking to put all of this together?” Mr. Clark answered Dana Sorrows is the 

person who does his marketing and once it is zoned he has buyers lined up to buy pieces of the 

project. Mr. Clark added that once it is zoned the land disturbance permit would take roughly three 

months. Mayor Moore stated that with the approval of the 150 unit PUD the city has no residential 

sewer capacity left. He also stated that most of the commercial capacity has been obligated. Mayor 

Moore stated until the city goes to a direct discharge in 5 to 10 years there is not enough capacity to 

support 20 townhomes. Mr. Clark stated that he was aware of the limitations. Council member 

Stephanie Moncrief asked if the plan has been presented to the Downtown Development Authority. 

Dana Sorrows stated that the city informed her this is the first step. Council member Stephanie 

Moncrief stated this was the first time she has been made aware of the special request. Don Cannon 

asked the city attorney if this matter needed to have a public hearing. Tony Powell stated that a public 



hearing was not required at this step in the process. Council member Stephanie Moncrief made motion 

to approve. Council member Jon Dial seconded. Passed unanimous. 
 

   

X.         REPORTS 

1. Code Enforcement Report 
Craig Ellington reported the notices of violation and citations issued the previous month. 

2. Public Works Report 

Brian Pilgrim reported how successful the tree lighting event was and decorations have been put up 

throughout the city. He also reported the sewer plant has been winterized and the move to the new 

public works building is almost complete. 

3. Clerk Report 
City clerk Keegan Ramsey read the balances of the city bank accounts. 
 

4. Mayor’s Report 

Mayor Moore reported that the 2013 SPLOST account is running out and payments will be rolled over 

to the money market account after depleted. The mayor commented that the tree lighting event was a 

huge success. Mayor Moore also reported the spray tank has been purchased to spray for weeds in 

the spring and plans to convert the ballfield halogen lights to LEDs. 

 

XI.       TOWN HALL DISCUSSION – Frank and Essie Johnson commented they were happy to be new residents 
of the city. Mr. Johnson expressed his desire to get more involved with things in the community. Mayor 
Moore welcomed them to the city. Dana Seger commented many new members getting library cards and 
the library is fully staffed now. 

XII.       COUNCIL COMMENTS – Council member Jon Dial thanked everyone for attending. Council member 
Linda wished everyone a merry Christmas and to remember the needy. Council member Stephanie 
Moncrief wished everyone happy holidays and reminded everyone that Walnut Grove High School principal 
would be making a presentation at the January meeting. 

XIII.     EXECUTIVE SESSION – Council member Stephanie Moncrief motioned to go into executive session. 
Council member Linda Pilgrim seconded. Passed unanimous. Council member Stephanie Moncrief 
motioned to return from executive session. Council member Jon Dial seconded. Passed unanimous. 

XIV.     ADJOURN – Council member Linda Pilgrim made motion to adjourn. Council member Stephanie Moncrief 
seconded. Passed unanimous. 


	Balance Sheet

